TN	THE	SUPREME	COILET	OF	ET.ORTDA

CASE NO. 87,505

DARRYL THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

-vs.-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROY D. WASSON
Special Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for Petitioner
Suite 450 Gables One Tower
1320 South Dixie Highway
Miami, Florida 33146
(305) 666-5053

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS:						
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT:						
ARGUMENT:						
THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW IS WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SHOULD BE QUASHED BECAUSE THAT COURT ERRONEOUSLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S RULINGS ON THE FOLLOWING MATTERS:						
I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION CONCERNING KNOWLEDGE OF THE ALLEGED VICTIMS' STATUS AS POLICE OFFICERS, BECAUSE KNOWLEDGE OF THE VICTIM'S STATUS IS AN ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE OF ATTEMPTED MURDER OF A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER UNDER § 784.07, FLA. STAT.	17					
11. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION ON THE VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION DEFENSE:	33					
III, THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY PRECLUDED THE DEFENDANT FROM TESTIFYING ABOUT STATEMENTS MADE TO HIM BY THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT:	36					
IV. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY ADVISING THE JURY THAT A DESIRE TO HEAR TESTIMONY FROM THE DEFENDANT WAS "THE AMERICAN WAY," THEREBY INDICATING A LACK OF PATRIOTISM IF THE JURY DID NOT EXPECT THE THE DEFENDANT TO TESTIFY ON HIS OWN BEHALF:	39					
V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL FOLLOWING DETECTIVE LANIER'S IRRELEVANT AND PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY THAT HE WAS AFRAID:	40					
CONCLUSION:						
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE						

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a proceeding for discretionary review of a decision of the Third DCA reversing in part and affirming in part the conviction of the Defendant/Petitioner, Darryl Thompson. <u>See</u> Thompson v. State, 667 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). The case arose from a "reverse sting" operation by undercover police and their informants, which is "where the police attempt to take drug money off the street by having the people with the money that are looking to purchase narcotics, purchasing narcotics from the police rather than purchase it from illegitimate sources." Tr-324.

The operation went awry and the police and Defendants drew weapons and started shooting. E.g., Tr-363, 655. Many shots were fired by the police (Tr-768), and from one to three shots were fired by Mr. Thompson (compare Tr-789 with Tr-1188), but no one was injured in the fray. Mr. Thompson was charged with five counts of attempted first degree murder of a law enforcement officer with a firearm, one count of possession of cocaine, one count of armed robbery, and one count for conspiracy to traffic in cocaine. R-264.

Although hotly disputed, there was ample evidence from which the jury could find that Mr. Thompson did not attempt to murder any law enforcement officer, and that the Defendants were armed only for self-defense out of fear of the narcotics suppliers they believed would be present. E.g., $Tr-1129^1$. There was evidence

Although there is no issue as to the sufficiency of the evidence to support the convictions, the existence of evidence to support the Appellant's theory of the case is relevant to demonstrate the harm in the errors committed at trial. Therefore, the Court has a "need to know" at least some of the

that supported Mr. Thompson's position that he fired a single shot without intending to kill, only as a desperate reaction to being surrounded by unknown persons in unmarked cars, who exited their vehicles with shotguns and machine guns blazing. Tr-1188. There was evidence that Mr. Thompson was so intoxicated on cocaine that he was incapable of formulating specific intent. Tr-1104-1110.

There was evidence on both sides of the question whether Mr. Thompson knew that the alleged victims were law enforcement officers. Compare Tr-945 with Ts-1185. The police were not in regular uniforms and were driving unmarked vehicles. Tr-777. However, their clothes bore indicia of their status as officers (Tr-358) and they claim to have shouted "Police" when the shooting started. Tr-910. Mr. Thompson said after his arrest "that he did not know it was the police he was shooting at." Tr-1254.

Detective Marshall Lee testified that he participated in the investigation involving Mr. Thompson and his co-Defendants. Tr-325. Detective Lee did not have any direct contact with any of the suspects prior to their arrests. Tr-325.

Miguel Torres, a confidential informant ("CI") working for the North Miami Police Department, met with Detective Lee and other officers to begin the investigation. Tr-560. Mr. Torres and another CI named Luis Camacho planned with the police to try to sell a kilogram of cocaine to the Defendant. Tr-561.

Darryl Thompson testified that he was a drug addict with a serious addiction. Tr-1079. During 1991, Mr. Thompson shared a

facts adduced at trial.

cell in the Dade County Jail with CI Luis Camacho. Ts-1080. Mr. Thompson and Camacho spent a lot of time together while in jail, and the Defendant told Camacho that he "was waiting to go in the drug program." Tr-1081.

About two weeks after Mr. Thompson had completed the drug program following his release from the County Jail, he received a number of telephone calls from Mr. Camacho at his home. Tr-1083, 1090. The other CI, Mr. Torres, also made telephone contact with Mr. Thompson, who was known as "Slim." Tr-563.

During calls between Mr. Thompson and the CIs, they agreed to meet to discuss a transaction. Tr-1090. Mr. Torres told Slim "how to get to the meeting place to discuss the amount of cocaine that is to be purchased, the type of cocaine, [and] how the transaction would take place." Tr-563. The first meeting was arranged for July 6, 1992 at the parking lot behind the Red Lobster Restaurant at Kendall Drive and 127th Avenue in **Dade** County. Tr-329.

At that first meeting, Detective Lee, who remained out of sight in an unmarked car, saw the Defendant Thompson "walk over and get into the informants' vehicle, which [was] parked in the rear of the Red Lobster." Tr-329. Detective Lee had nstructed the informants to tell the Defendant that the deal could not be consummated that day, and that it would have to be put off for a day or two. Tr-329.

Mr. Torres and the other confidential informant met with $M_{\rm f}$. Thompson in their vehicle, talked about the quality of the cocaine and the amount of cocaine needed, and provided a free gram of

cocaine to Mr. Thompson to take as a **sample.** Tr-565, 1092. **The** transaction **for** the kilogram **was** set up **for** the next day, but was rescheduled **for** the second day after that initial meeting, or until July 8, 1992. Tr-567. The second meeting was scheduled for the Shooters parking lot at N.E. 35th **Avenue** in Sunny Isles Boulevard, at a large shopping center near the Intracoastal Waterway. Tr-337.

After that first meeting, Mr. Thompson went around his neighborhood trying to raise \$10,000 to buy the cocaine from Mr. Camacho, but could not raise the money. Tr-1099. Thereupon, others suggested to Mr. Thompson that they could take some money "and fix it up and make it look like there's \$10,000 and pass it to Camacho," to obtain the cocaine. Tr-1099. Mr. Thompson testified as to what he meant by "fix up" the money to make it look like \$10,000: "We took a whole lot of one dollars bills and put twenties and fifties on the top and put rubber bands around it, make it look like we had a lot of money." Tr-1101.

Mr. Thompson testified that as he and the other Defendants proceeded to the mall in North Miami Beach where the transaction was to occur, he still had most of the gram of cocaine that he had been given by the CIs and he was "sniffing on that as [they] arrived." Tr-1104. He "snorted it all." Tr-1105. When asked what effect the snorting of the cocaine had on Mr. Thompson, he testified: "It make you real hyper, you perspire a lot, sweat a lot, hyper. And you also tend to be nervous and shaky." Tr-1105.

Mr. Thompson was not thinking clearly after snorting the rest of the gram of cocaine, "was speeding a little bit," and "wasn't

really in the right state of mind." Tr-1106. It took him a while to find the transaction location, because the cocaine had an effect on his ability to remember the directions he was given over the telephone and effected his ability to find the place. Tr-1108.

The informants were in a van in the parking lot. Tr-343. Detective Lee saw the Defendants' vehicle stop near the informants' van, while the unmarked vehicle in which Detective Lee and other police officers were riding "kind of zig-zagged through the lot" toward the Defendants. Tr-351. The informant was unsuccessful in his effort to have the Defendants stop before reaching the CIs' van, and the Defendants drove past him and parked. Tr-352.

The Defendant and Mr. Torres spoke in the parking lot, and the Defendant's nervousness caused him to start backing **up** and requesting reassurance from Mr. Torres, who told him that everything was alright. Tr-1109. Mr. Torres and Mr. Thompson walked over to the informants' van. Tr-353. The other CI, Camacho, who was inside the van, showed the Defendant the kilo of cocaine, indicating that everything was okay, so Mr. Thompson "rushed around to the passenger's side, got inside the van with him." Tr-1109.

Mr. Thompson testified: "Mr. Camacho cut the kilo of cocaine open, dug down inside of it, and said, 'Hit this.' So I hit it." Tr-1109-10. Mr. Thompson snorted three hits of the cocaine, then put a "big rock" of cocaine Camacho gave him in his mouth. Tr-1110.

The Co-Defendant, Mr. Miller, at first stayed in Defendants' vehicle. Tr-353. Detective Lee testified: "After Thompson gat in our van and sat in the front seat and inspected the cocaine, he

motioned to Mr. Miller. Mr. Miller got out of their vehicle, walked around and met Thompson at the back corner of our van." Tr-354. As Mr. Miller exited his vehicle, Detective Lee "saw him drop a gun pouch" which was tan in color and in the triangular shape "that's commonly used for carrying and storing firearms." Tr-355. Mr. Miller "then picked it up and threw it on the driver's seat of their vehicle." Tr-355.

After Mr. Miller put the gun pouch back in his car, Detective Lee saw him walk around to the back of the vehicle, carrying a plastic bag, where he met Mr. Thompson at the rear of that vehicle. Tr-359. Detective Lee testified that Mr. Miller met Mr. Thompson at the right rear corner of the vehicle, the two Defendants "had a brief discussion, and Mr. Thompson produced a gun and walked up to the front door of [the informants'] vehicle." Ts-360.

When Mr. Thompson came back to the van and passed the money to Camacho, Camacho did not **pass** him the cocaine, and looked as if he was going to count the money. Tr-1110. Mr. Thompson pulled out his pistol and Mr. Camacho threw the cocaine toward him. The cocaine hit the ground, and when Mr. Thompson bent over to pick it up he heard something, looked to see a car coming in his direction, and felt that he was in danger of being robbed. Tr-1111.

Detective Lee already had advised the informants and other police officers that he had seen the gun pouch dropped by Mr. Miller and suggested that there was a possibility of a "ripoff," Tr-361. Detective Lee advised his colleagues over the radio that they should be alert and be careful, not knowing that one of the

confidential informants "was giving a take-down signal," Tr-361.

At the time of the take-down signal, Detective Lee's vehicle was being maneuvered toward the Defendants' vehicle in an effort to block its path. Tr-363. However, the undercover officers did not reach that location and had to change plans quickly, "[b]ecause gunfire erupted, and Thompson and Miller started running." Tr-363.

Mr. Thompson testified that he felt that Mr. Camacho had "some people to back him up" so he fired a shot in that direction, then "took off running in the opposite direction," dropping the gun and the kilo of cocaine as he ran. Tr-1111. Shortly thereafter, he was arrested and handcuffed. Tr-1111. The Defendant testified that he could not remember all of the details of the transaction at the van and the car coming toward him, because he was "intoxicated . . . on cocaine at the time." Tr-1112.

Mr. Torres testified that he saw "Slim run and his associate run and the police chasing," Tr-589. When asked what he saw Slim doing as he ran, Mr. Torres testified: "I saw him turn once and fire his gun, and then I saw him drop whatever he had in his hand, which was a kilo of cocaine and the money." Tr-589.

Detective Lee said he saw gunfire coming from Mr. Thompson's gun as he "was pointing back" while running away. Tr-364.

Detective Lee instructed Officer Borrell not to block the front of the Defendants' vehicle, but to stop the car, whereupon Detective Lee "got out and fired two rounds at Mr. Thompson." Tr-365. As he exited his vehicle after the Defendant already had fired his weapon, Detective Lee said he yelled "police." Tr-365.

The police had their weapons on fully automatic on the date in question, resulting in a lot of rounds of ammunition being shot by the police that day. Tr-768. "[F]ully automatic" meant that the shots were coming from police weapons "like machine gun" fire. Tr-769. Mr. Torres testified that—after the first shot was fired by the Defendant—"all hell broke loose" and Mr. Thompson and Mr. Miller started running away. Tr-655-56. As Mr. Thompson ran, Torres said that he extended his arm behind him toward the right, and fired another shot as he ran quickly, while the police were firing at him. Tr-656.

The evidence from which it could be found that the Defendant did not know that Detective Lee and the other undercover officers were police officers included Detective Lee's testimony that he was not readily identified as a police officer by other non-police officers and people who did not know him. Tr-388-89.

Detective Lee and his partners were in an undercover Nissan Maxima, four-door automobile which was not marked as a police vehicle. Tr-357-58. Detective Lee was not wearing a typical police uniform. Tr-358. Mr. Thompson testified that he never heard anyone say "Police" on July 8, 1992. Tr-1185. Another one of the police officers on the scene testified that he would not have been identified by a passerby as a police officer as he drove around in his unmarked Buick. Tr-766-67.

Detective David Lanier and Detective Alexander were in a car that was supposed to block the Defendants' car in place after the narcotics transaction. Tr-776. Their car was an undercover blue

Camaro, which had no police markings on it at all. Tr-777.

On the other hand, there was evidence from which the jury could find that Mr. Thompson knew that Detective Lee was a police officer when the shots were exchanged. The Detective testified that he "was wearing jeans and a police t-shirt and . . . also wearing a bullet-proof vest that has large white letters 'POLICE' across it with a large badge in the center." Tr-358. The letters and the badge were approximately three inches in height. Tr-358. The other three police officers in the car with Detective Lee "were all members of the SWAT Team . . . wearing black SWAT uniforms with "POLICE" written . . . on [them]." Tr-358.

Detective Lanier was wearing a black ball cap with "Police" in silver letters across it, he had on a black tee shirt with "Police" in silver letters across the back and front, and was wearing a bullet-proof vest with "Police" across that. He was also wearing his badge. Tr-777.

Evidence from which the jury could find that the Defendant did not attempt to murder anyone included Mr. Thompson's testimony that he took the cocaine and the money and started running away from the undercover van, but he did not fire a shot until after he saw "a car approaching fast . . [with a gun] pointed out the window." Tr-1184. Mr. Thompson said he only fired one shot to try to scare the unidentified oncomers, and said he did not pull the trigger again as he ran away. Tr-1188. As he ran, he first realized that police were surrounding him when he saw a blue light on a dashboard of a vehicle corning towards him, whereupon he dropped the gun, the

cocaine, and the money, and hit the ground. Tr-1188.

Other evidence that supported the defense theory that Mr. Thompson fired a shot only to scare the others coming after him included questioning of Mr. Torres on the circumstances of Mr. Thompson shooting back in his direction as Mr. Thompson ran away from the scene. Tr-653. Mr. Torres agreed that it was reasonable that, if Mr. Thompson wanted to kill Mr. Camacho, he could have done that as he stood approximately two and one-half feet from Mr. Camacho prior to starting to run away and firing the shot. Tr-654. Mr. Thompson's direct testimony closed with his testimony that he had fired only one shot and did not intend to kill any law enforcement officers at the time, but intended only to scare away whoever was coming towards him at the time. Tr-1129.

Evidence that Mr. Thompson had not premeditated any attempt to kill included the prosecution's expert testimony that his Taurus pistol was inoperable when received for testing "because of dry lubricants" in the mechanism of the weapon. Tr-848. The State's expert, Mr. Hart, testified that—assuming a round had been chambered in the Taurus—the hammer could have fallen with sufficient force to discharge that first shot, but its greasy and dirty condition was reasonably likely to have prevented the slide from moving with sufficient force to cleanly eject the spent cartridge from that first round, jamming the empty cartridge in the weapon and preventing a second shot from being fired. Tr-878.

There was other evidence from which the jury could have found that the Defendant attempted to commit murder. Detective

Lanier testified that he made eye contact with the Defendant Thompson, who looked at the Detective, "brought the gun up and fired it." Tr-787. The detective said he saw Mr. Thompson firing his weapon two more times at someone he could not specifically identify. Tr-789.

Detective Lanier testified that immediately after those two shots were fired, "three members of the North Miami Beach special response team came running up from the direction that the round came from." Tr-789. Detective Lanier testified that the bullet that was fired at him by the Defendant hit a red Nissan automobile which was parked about three feet to his right. Tr-790.

The State called as a witness Steven Diaz, a police officer for the City of North Miami Beach. Tr-971. Sergeant Diaz, who had the primary responsibility to arrest the Defendants, was carrying a .45 caliber sidearm and a MP5 machine gun. Tr-974. Sergeant Diaz testified that he saw the Defendant Thompson opening the door to the confidential informants van, displaying a firearm and pointing it at the informant sitting inside the van. Tr-977. Sergeant Diaz exited his van, yelled "Police," and saw the Defendant Thompson turn clockwise and fire a shot at a car approaching him. Tr-978.

Sergeant Diaz testified that the next thing he saw was the Defendant Thompson running away, shooting back at him. Tr-978. The sergeant fired shots at the Defendant and began to chase him. Tr-980. Sergeant Diaz fired approximately twenty-one rounds from his machine gun at the Defendant. Tr-1016.

In beginning to argue the jury instructions at the close of

the State's case, counsel for the State argued that it was not an element of the attempted murder offense for the State to prove that the victims were, in fact, law enforcement officers, nor that the Defendant had knowledge of the officers' status as police. Tr-1061-62. The Judge held that he would address the issue later. Tr-1070.

In arguing the jury instructions, the defense requested an instruction which would require the jury to find that the alleged victims of the shooting were, in fact, police officers as charged in the information. Tr-1270-76. Additionally, the defense argued that there was a knowledge element to the charge on which the jury should be instructed. Tr-1278. The instructions given did not contain an element that the State had to prove the Defendant's knowledge that the victims were police. R-232-37; Tr-1374-76.

Mr. Thompson was convicted on one of the counts for attempted first degree murder of a law enforcement officer with a firearm, on Count VI for possession of cocaine, Count VII for armed robbery, and Count VIII for conspiracy to traffic in cocaine. R-264. He was acquitted on four of the attempted murder counts. Id.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District erroneously affirmed the trial court's denial of Defendant's requested jury instruction concerning knowledge of the alleged victims' status as law enforcement officers. Section 784.07(3), Fla. Stat. creates the substantive offense of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer which includes as an element the Defendant's knowledge of the status of

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