T FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,505

DARRYL THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

-vs-

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

## CONSUELO MAINGOT

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No, 0897612 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs The 110 Tower SE 6th Street Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 712-4600 Fax: 712-4706

##

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

State v. Wilson, No. 86,680 (Fla. July 3, 1996).

Thus, there being no acquittal -- explicit or implicit -- for either the attempted felony murder charge or the attempted first degree murder of a law enforcement officer, -- there is no constitutional bar to retrial on the attempted first degree murder charge where the jury was instructed in the alternative and the facts of the case could support a guilty verdict on that charge. State v. Wilson, No, 86,680 (Fla. July 3, 1996).

With respect to the question presented here, it is axiomatic that a trial court must instruct the jury on the law of the case and that it is within the sound discretion of the court to determine what law applies. Rule 3.390(1), Fla.R.Crim.P. (1992). Section 784.07(3), Florida Statutes, does not require that a defendant have knowledge that the victim was a law enforcement officer when the defendant is charged with attempted murder of a

law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty. Carpentier v, State, 587 So. 2d 1355, 1357 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), rev. denied, 599 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1992). A Petitioner is not entitled to a jury instruction on an issue which is not an essential element of the crime charged. Richards v. State, 643 So. 2d 89, 90-91 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

In the instant case, the Petitioner was charged with attempted murder of a law enforcement officer by premeditated design (first degree). Section 782.04(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1992). The Florida Standard Jury Instruction for first degree murder, combined with the modifying instruction on attempted crimes, enumerates the elements of the crimes charged which the State is obligated to prove beyond a reasonable doubt before a defendant can be convicted:

There are two ways in which a person may be convicted of first degree murder. One is known as premeditated murder and the other is known as felony murder.

Before you can find the Petitioner guilty of First Degree Premeditated Murder, the State must prove the following three elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

## 1. Victim is dead

- 2. The death was caused by the criminal act or agency of the Petitioner.
- $\it 3$ . There was a premeditated killing of the victim.

Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 937; Section 782.04(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (R. 236).

In order to convict the Petitioner of attempted first degree murder of Detective Zanier the jury had only to determine that the Petitioner committed a criminal act directed at the person of the victim, Lanier, and that he did so as a result of a premeditated design, Knowing the status of your victim is not an element of the crime of attempted first degree murder, and consequently a jury instruction to that effect is not required.

It appears evident that the Legislature intended to provide additional protection for law enforcement officers engaged in the lawful performance of their duties by the enactment of Section 784.07(3), Fla. Stat., which provides:

Notwithstanding the provision of any other section, any person who is convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the

lawful performance of his duty or who is convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer when the motivation for such attempt was related, all or in part, to the lawful duties of the officer, shall be guilty of a life felony, punishable as provided in s. 775.0825.

Section 784.07(3), Fla. Stat. (1992). This subsection provides an enhanced penalty applicable to a charge on the substantive offense consisting of the elements of murder (in any degree) , which are found by reference to section 782.04; plus the elements of a criminal attempt, which are found by reference to section 777.04(1), when the victim is a "law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty." The wording is clear. intended victim must be determined to have been a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duties. not require that the Petitioner must know the victim is one of the protected class of persons, only that the victim be  $\boldsymbol{a}$  member of the protected class. Carpentier v. State, 587 So. 2d 1357. intent behind Section 784.07(3) is that a person who attempts to murder "a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty, " or "a law enforcement officer when the motivation for such attempt was related, all or in part, to the lawful duties of the officer," is guilty of a life felony and subject to the

additional 25 year minimum mandatory penalty set out in Section 775.0825. The subsection protects those off-duty police officers not engaged in the performance of their duties, but where the motivation for the attempt relates to their police duties or their status as police officers. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the statute is clear that the person of a law enforcement officer is subject to enhanced protection on or off duty so long as the offense relates to the officer's status.

The sequence is clear. In the instant case, first the jury had to determine that the Petitioner was the person who tried to kill the victim. Then the jury had to decide that the victim was a police officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duties. Finally, the jury had to determine whether the attempted crime was premeditated. Having made those determinations, the jury found the Petitioner guilty of attempted first degree premeditated murder of Detective Zanier. Having determined that the victim was indeed a law enforcement officer, the Petitioner was subject to the penalties set out in Sections 784.07(3) and 775.0825.

The Petitioner relies upon <u>Grinage v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 1362, for the proposition that the State must allege and prove that the

he knew that his victim was a police officer for a conviction under 784.07(3). Although there is language to that effect, the questions certified to this Court in that case involved the offense of attempted felony murder. In that case, this Court held that the crime of attempted felony murder no longer exists, but did not reach the issue of whether or not knowledge of the victim's status as a law enforcement officer is a necessary element of the offence of attempted murder when the conviction is enhanced under sec. 784.07(3). State v. Grinase, 656 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1995). not a case where presumption was stacked upon presumption as in Grinage v. State, in which the Petitioner could not be charged with attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty for cutting an undercover officer during the course of an attempted robbery where the knife thrust that resulted in a cut was the only alleged act of force, violence or assault, and as an essential element of the underlying qualifying offense of attempted robbery, the knife thrust could not also constitute the overt act required to prove attempted murder. Grinase v. State, 641 So. 2d 1362.

The Third District Court opined that section 784.07, subsection (2) specifies that the assault or battery upon a law

enforcement officer must be committed "knowingly." However, subsection (3) does not contain the same requirement for the separate and distinct offense of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty. Carpentier v. State, 587 So. 2d at 1357; Isaac v, State, 626 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), review denied 634 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1994); Evans v State, 625 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Subsection (3) provides an enhanced penalty on a conviction for attempted murder if the victim happens to be a law enforcement officer in the lawful performance of his duty or if the motivation for the attempts was related to the lawful duties of the officer. State v. Iacovone, 660 so. 2d 1371, 1373-1374 (Fla. 1995). Therefore, the trial court properly instructed the jury as to the law and cannot be held to have abused its discretion for declining to give a jury instruction on scienter which is not required to convict on the crime charged. Accordingly, the district court correctly affirmed the lower court, and its decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or other district courts.

Briefly, on the remaining assertions of error Petitioner has raised, Respondent submits that this Court need not review the decision of the district court, and responds as follows:

Taken in the order presented herein, the Petitioner claims that the trial court erroneously denied his requested instruction on the voluntary intoxication defense. It is well settled that voluntary intoxication is a defense to the specific intent crimes of first degree murder and robbery. Fla. Std. Jury Instr. 3.04(g) (Crim.) 931. Bell v. State, 394 so. 2d 979 (Fla. 1981). defendant has the right to a jury instruction on the law applicable to his theory of defense where any trial evidence supports that theory, Bryant v. State, 412 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 1982). jury instructions regarding intoxication need not be given in every case in which evidence has been adduced at trial that the defendant had consumed alcoholic beverages prior to the commission of the offense and it is not error to refuse such an instruction when there is no evidence of the amount of alcohol consumed during the hours preceding the crime and no evidence that the defendant was intoxicated. Jacobs v. State, 396 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 933, 102 s. ct. 430, 70 L.Ed.2d 239 (1981). Additionally, where the collective testimony of victims that the defendant had red eyes, looked sick and tired, and made some -- but not a lot -- of noises that they could not understand, combined with the testimony of the arresting officer that the defendant appeared as if he might possibly have been drinking or using drugs,

the evidence was sufficient to suggest that the defendant may have resembled a person who might have had a few drinks, but was insufficient to establish that the defendant was intoxicated or even that he had actually consumed alcoholic beverages or drugs, to support a jury instruction on the defense of voluntary intoxication. Hester v. State, 503 so. 2d 1342, 1344 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

Here, the only evidence adduced at trial as to his level of intoxication and his "uncontrollable drug addiction" was Petitioner's self serving testimony that he had consumed cocaine in indeterminate amounts at indeterminate periods starting two days prior to the drug transaction and up to and including the time of However, evidence to the the transaction, (T. 1075-1079). contrary indicating that the Petitioner was in control of the whole operation was elicited throughout the trial, During that two days the Petitioner admitted to having organized the drug transaction, masterminded the rip-off when he could not raise the purchase price, assisted in putting together the flash role to be used in the rip-off, and to having acquired the firearms necessary for (T. 1162-1164). Moreover, the Petitioner their protection, testified that after he sampled the cocaine, he assessed it to be

good and signaled his codefendant to continue with the exchange of the money in the flash role for the kilo the CI was holding, ordering the CI to get out of the van. (T. 1177-1179)

By his own admission, Petitioner said that he had been given one gram of cocaine by the confidential informant (CI) Luis Camacho, and over a period of two days he had over half of it left while on his way to the drug transaction, and had snorted all of it by the time he arrived to conclude the drug exchange. (T. answered on 1104-1105, 1151-1152). The Petitioner examination that he took the cocaine to relax him and clear his mind, but after further prodding on the part of defense counsel he testified that he was "speeding and sweating." (T. 1104-1108). The State suggests that this nervousness was the result of the danger of executing a drug rip-off rather than a drug induced excitation, and failure to follow directions is not necessarily symptomatic of an altered state of mind. (T. 1105-1108). Once he made contact with the CI he sampled the cocaine he was purchasing by ingesting three "hits" and a rock of cocaine. (T. 1110, the only evidence was the Petitioner's 1175-1176). Thus, uncorroborated statement that he was too intoxicated to form the requisite intent, yet he was able to orchestrate and execute the rip-off, as well as forcefully attempt to elude authority when the whole thing went awry.

Furthermore, no questions were asked of any witnesses regarding the Petitioner's demeanor during the drug rip-off. Added to the fact that at no time, until the eleventh hour at the close of all the evidence and just before the State was to put on its rebuttal of his entrapment defense, did Petitioner announce the involuntary intoxication defense, the Petitioner did not elicit testimony from any of the State's witnesses regarding whether or not he had exhibited any signs of intoxication either during the transaction or at arrest. While Petitioner's testimony alone could have been taken as evidence that he had ingested the intoxicant prior to and during the drug rip-off, there was no evidence at all that he was intoxicated and no corroborative evidence that he had actually consumed the cocaine as he said he did. Therefore, the trial court correctly denied and the Third District properly affirmed the denial of the instruction on the defense of involuntary intoxication as an unreliable, untimely defense. Hester v. State, 503 so. 2d 1344; Jacobs v. State, 396 So. 2d 1113.

Secondly, out of court statements offered for the truth of the matter asserted are inadmissible in evidence as hearsay. Section 90.802, Fla. Stat. (1992). In the instant case on twelve occasions during his testimony, Petitioner attempted to relay to the jury the substance of a statement made to him by the CI while he and the CI shared a cell at Dade County Jail several months prior to the events which were the subject of the trial. The State objected and the trial court properly sustained the objections as to what the CI told the Petitioner. Petitioner was permitted to relate to the jury any action and any statements he made as a result of the conversations with the CI. He was not permitted to relate specifically what the CI said to him. Those statements do not fall within any recognized exception to the hearsay rule.

The statements were not admissible under the exception to the hearsay rule allowing statements made by a coconspirator where there was no charge of conspiracy in this case, nor were they statements made by an agent of the Petitioner since the CI was an undercover officer. Section 90.803(18)(e), Fla. Stat. (1992). The statements were classical inadmissible hearsay and the fact that the Petitioner was able to relate actions taken by the CI and his own actions taken as a result of the CI's statements does not

constitute a State waiver of the hearsay rule. Moreover, the assertion that the CI's statements to Petitioner were admissible as "state of mind" evidence is obviated by Petitioner's testimony. What could more clearly express Petitioner's "state of mind" than his own account of the CI's actions and his own actions taken as a result of the negotiations? It is disingenuous to suppose that the Petitioner or any other person who embarks on a drug transaction fully armed, as here, would be doing so in self defense rather than from a preconceived premeditated notion that the other contractual party would also be fully armed.

In his next assertion of error Petitioner claims that the trial court "confused" the jury by expressing that there was something un-patriotic about the Petitioner's right to remain silent and to refrain from testifying, Only those comments which are "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted as a comment on the defendant's right to silence will be treated as such. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986). Where a review of the record indicates that one could reasonably conclude that the witness' comment implicated the defendant's right to remain silent, such comment should be evaluated under the harmless error doctrine. State v. Kearse, 491 So. 2d 1141, 1142 (Fla. 1986). Where the

trial court's statement to the venire effectively informed the jury that the defendant would not offer an explanation of his actions highlighting the fact that the defendant was not testifying at trial, reversal was required. Love v. State, 583 So. 2d 371, 372 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). Where the trial court's explanation to the jury that it is proper for witnesses including the defendant to confer with their attorney's as to any testimony they may give, was not fairly susceptible of being interpreted by the jury as referring to the defendant's exercise of his right to silence and reversal was not required. State v. Grissom, 492 So. 2d 1324 (Fla. 1986).

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